II. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

On or about August 21, 2003, the Appellees, Brenton L. Ferrell and Kathleen D. Ferrell filed a declaratory judgment action in the Circuit Court of Mercer County, West Virginia, against Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company ("Nationwide") and Shelley Newman, seeking a declaration of the rights and obligations of the Defendants Nationwide and Ms. Newman to the Appellees under a Nationwide insurance policy. The policy contained an amendatory endorsement which provided that Nationwide may seek reimbursement of benefits paid to an insured for medical expenses resulting from injuries while occupying an insured vehicle. (See Certified Copy of Nationwide Policy No. 92 47 H 890080, Exhibit A at Amendatory Endorsement 2256C attached to Nationwide's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment of Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company; see also Copy of Appellees' Complaint for Declaratory Judgment). Subsequent to the filing of the declaratory judgment Complaint, an Answer was filed on behalf of the Defendant Nationwide, while a Motion to Dismiss was filed on behalf of the Defendant Shelley Newman. The Motion to Dismiss resulted in an Agreed Order dismissing, without prejudice, the Defendant Shelley Newman as a party in this action.

Thereafter, the Appellees filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, arguing that regardless of the language in the Nationwide policy, which clearly provided the insurer the right to reimbursement of the medical payments it paid under the terms of the relevant policy, Nationwide was seeking subrogation. The Appellees maintained that, according to Richards v. Allstate Insurance Company, 193 W. Va. 244, 455 S.E.2d 803 (1995), subrogation in favor of an insurer against its own insured is not permitted. Consequently, the Appellees argued that Nationwide was not entitled to reimbursement of the medical expenses it had paid under the salient policy. The Appellees further

argued that the Nationwide policy provisions were ambiguous and, therefore, the policy should be interpreted in favor of the insureds. (See Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support Thereof).

The Appellant responded to the Appellees' summary judgment Motion and also filed its own Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment. The crux of Nationwide's argument concerning summary judgment was that the Nationwide policy was amended to comport with the dictates enunciated by the Court in Richard and, accordingly, Nationwide was entitled to reimbursement of payments made for medical expenses. Additionally, Nationwide argued that the policy provision at issue was clear and unambiguous and, therefore, that language should be applied as written and not interpreted by the courts. (See Nationwide's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment and Combined Memorandum of Law in Response to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and In Support of Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment).

A hearing was conducted on April 28, 2004, at which time the Circuit Court indicated that it would deny both parties' Motions for summary judgment and certify a question to the West Virginia Supreme Court regarding whether Nationwide was entitled to reimbursement of medical payments under the relevant insurance policy provision. An Order of Certification was then entered by the Circuit Court of Mercer County, West Virginia on or about July 2, 2004. (See Copy of Order of Certification entered July 2, 2004, attached as Exhibit A to Appellant's Petition For Certified Question Review). It is significant to note at this point, that just months before this Order was entered, another judge sitting in the same circuit, found that a similar policy provision providing for reimbursement of medical payments comported with this Court's decision in Richards. See State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Justus, Civil Action No. 01-C-324 (Cir. Ct. Mercer

County filed December 3, 2003) (Judge Derek C. Swope, presiding) (attached as Exhibit B to Appellant's Petition for Certified Question Review).¹ The circuit court held in Justus that the reimbursement provision was clear and unambiguous and allowed the insurer to seek and obtain reimbursement for medical payments made to the defendants in that action. This Court accepted the certified question presented for review.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 19, 2002, the Plaintiff Kathleen D. Ferrell² was an insured under a Nationwide automobile insurance policy, Policy No. 92 47 H 890080, issued to Mary S. and Clarence D. Baldwin (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "the Baldwin policy").³ On that day, Ms. Ferrell was

¹Similarly, the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia has recently entered an Order Granting Plaintiff Summary Judgment as Against All Defendants in State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Facemyre, Civil Action No.: 01-C-1565 (Cir. Ct. Kanawha County filed April 20, 2004) (Judge Bailey-Walker presiding) (attached as Exhibit C to Appellant's Petition for Certified Question Review). In the Facemyre decision, the circuit court found that "the West Virginia Supreme Court explicitly authorized such reimbursement policy provisions in the Richards v. Allstate decision," and that the State Farm policy provision at issue in that case was a "reimbursement clause." (See Exhibit C, p. 9, attached to Appellant's Petition for Certified Question Review). Thus, the circuit court concluded that State Farm was entitled to summary judgment and that "[e]ach of the defendants must reimburse State Farm for all sums paid to or on behalf of defendants under each of the defendants' own medical reimbursement coverage, subject to a pro rata reduction for attorney's fees, costs and expenses in obtaining the underlying liability settlements." (See Exhibit C, p. 13, attached to Appellant's Petition for Certified Question Review). Appellees argue that these two State Farm cases are distinguishable because "[t]here is no language regarding 'subrogation' contained in the State Farm policy as is contained in the Nationwide policy." (See, Appellees' Response to Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company's Petition for Certified Review, p. 13). This is only technically correct because State Farm chose to use the phrase "pass your rights of recovery to us" instead of the word "subrogation" in its policy provision. (See, Exhibit B, p. 8 and Exhibit C, p. 7, attached to Appellant's Petition for Certified Question Review). The Appellees' argument is fatally flawed, however, because the State Farm policies, like the Nationwide policy, provides the insurer two different rights for the recovery of medical payments coverage when the insured receives duplicate recovery.

²Kathleen Ferrell's maiden name is Baldwin.

³The Order of Certification to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals entered July 2, 2004, contains undisputed facts as identified by the Circuit Court. Nationwide also sets forth the factual recitation supra, which incorporates some of the Circuit Court's factual findings, as well as additional facts that Nationwide has identified as being relevant to the resolution of the certified question posed.

driving a 2001 Dodge Neon, which was insured under the Baldwin policy. The Plaintiff, Brenton L. Ferrell, was a passenger in the vehicle being operated by his wife. The Appellees sustained bodily injury when their vehicle collided with a vehicle driven by Kermit Davis, which was also insured under an automobile liability insurance policy issued by the Defendant Nationwide.⁴ (See Order of Certification at ¶ 1 and Nationwide's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment at pp.1-2).

The provisions of the Baldwin policy included Family Compensation Coverage, which provided for the payment of medical expenses resulting from accidental bodily injury suffered while the insured was occupying an insured vehicle regardless of fault. (See Certified Copy of Nationwide Policy No. 92 47 H 890080, Exhibit A at p. 11, attached to Nationwide's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment). Pursuant to this coverage, Nationwide paid medical expenses incurred by the Appellees as a result of the accident in the amounts of \$2,982.61 for Mrs. Ferrell and \$1,884.76 for Mr. Ferrell, respectively. (See Order of Certification at ¶ 2).

The Court found that, after receiving the Family Compensation benefits from the Baldwin policy, the Appellees presented a claim against the tortfeasor, who was also a Nationwide insured. (See Order of Certification at ¶ 3). The Court further found that "[i]n conjunction with their claim for damages against Kermit D. Davis, the Ferrells submitted the same medical expenses for which they had previously received payment from Nationwide under the Family Compensation Coverage of the Baldwin policy." (See Order of Certification at ¶ 3). The Appellees were offered a settlement under the liability portion of the policy issued to Mr. Davis. (See Nationwide's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit B, letter dated May 15, 2003, from Janet Williamson to Lake Wykle and copied to Shelley Newman). As part of the settlement negotiations, the Appellees requested that

⁴The Nationwide policy maintained on the Davis vehicle is not the subject of the instant litigation.

Nationwide waive its rights to "subrogation" of the medical payments made under the Baldwin policy. (See Nationwide's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit B, letter dated May 15, 2003, from Janet Williamson to Lake Wykle and copied to Shelley Newman). Nationwide responded to the Appellees' request by advising them that, under the relevant Nationwide policy provisions, specifically Endorsement 2256C, the insurer was entitled to reimbursement of, not subrogation for, the payment of medical expenses which the insurer had paid under the Baldwin policy and that it would not waive its right to reimbursement. (See Nationwide's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit C, letter dated May 15, 2003, from Shelley Newman to Janet Williamson).

Specifically, at issue was the following policy language found in Endorsement 2256C, under GENERAL POLICY CONDITIONS:

5. SUBROGATION

We have the right of subrogation under the:

- c) Medical Payments;
- d) Family Compensation;

coverages in this policy. This means that after paying loss to **you** or others under this policy, **we** will have the **insured's** right to sue for or otherwise recover such loss from anyone else who may be liable. Also, if the **insured** receives a recovery from any liable party, including another Nationwide insured, **we** may require the **insured** to reimburse us when the proceeds of recovery duplicate **our** payment. These provisions will be applied in accordance with state law. Any **insured** will sign such papers, and do whatever else is necessary, to transfer these rights to **us** and will do nothing to prejudice them.

(See Certified Copy of Nationwide Policy No. 92 47 H 890080, Exhibit A, attached to Nationwide's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment) (emphasis added). This particular endorsement was

submitted by Nationwide to the West Virginia Insurance Commissioner for approval to be used in conjunction with its Century II Auto Policy (Auto 6163-B) on March 17, 2000,⁵ as required by the provisions of West Virginia Code § 33-6-8.⁶ Endorsement 2256C was approved by the West Virginia Insurance Commissioner for use in West Virginia on or after July 8, 2000. (See Order of Certification at ¶ 12).

Ms. Ferrell and Mr. Ferrell subsequently settled their respective liability claims under the Davis policy. Ms. Ferrell received the amount of \$8,031.48 and Mr. Ferrell received the amount of \$4,756.06, which amounts reflected the uncontested sums of the settlement. (See Nationwide's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment at pp. 2-3). Separate checks issued to Ms. Ferrell and Mr. Ferrell in the amounts of \$1,968.52 and 1,243.94, reflected the contested medical payments amounts at issue. (See Order of Certification at ¶ 10). Additionally, as part of the settlement negotiated

⁵The Filing Memorandum submitted to the West Virginia Insurance Commissioner, evinced in the March 17, 2000, letter from Nationwide to the Commissioner, the Honorable Hanley Clark, provides the following concerning reimbursement provision: "5. SUBROGATION . . . Further clarification has been added to the third sentence to provide for recovery from any liable party, including another Nationwide insured." (See Exhibit D, attached to Nationwide's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment).

⁶West Virginia Code § 33-6-8 (a) provides:

(a) Except as provided in section eight, article seventeen of this chapter (fire and marine forms), no insurance policy form, no group certificate form, no insurance application form where written application is required and is to be made a part of the policy, and no rider, endorsement or other form to be attached to any policy, shall be delivered or issued for delivery in this state by an insurer unless it has been filed with and approved by the commissioner, except that as to group insurance policies delivered outside this state, only the group certificates to be delivered or issued for delivery in this state shall be filed for approval with the commissioner. This section shall not apply to policies, riders, endorsements or forms of unique character designed for and used with relation to insurance upon a particular subject, or which relate to the manner of distribution of benefits or to the reservation of rights and benefits under life or accident and sickness insurance policies, and are used at the request of the individual policyholder, contract holder or certificate holder, nor to the surety bond forms.

Id.

between the parties, the Appellees agreed to release the tortfeasor but reserved the right to pursue the declaratory judgment action challenging Nationwide's right to enforcement of the reimbursement provisions applicable to the medical expense payments made under the Family Compensation Coverage of the Baldwin policy.

IV. CERTIFIED QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the policy provisions of the Century II Auto Policy, as amended by Endorsement 2256C, provide clear and unambiguous language which creates a contractual right to reimbursement of medical expense payments where an insured received a recovery from another Nationwide insured and the proceeds of that recovery duplicate the insurer's previous payment.

V. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

In Conformity With the Unequivocal Instruction Given by the Court in Richards v. Allstate, 193 W. Va. 244, 455 S.E.2d 803 (1995), the Clear and Unambiguous Policy Provisions Contained within the Nationwide Policy, as amended by Endorsement 2256C, Create a Contractual Right to Reimbursement of Medical Expense Payments Where a Nationwide Insured Received a Recovery From Another Nationwide Insured and the Proceeds of That Recovery Duplicate the Insurer's Previous Payment of Medical Expenses.

Richards v. Allstate, 193 W. Va. 244, 455 S.E.2d 803(1995).

Control Specialists Co. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 423 N.W.2d 775 (Neb. 1988).

Reichl v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 880 P.2d 558 (Wash. Ct. App. 1994).

Maynard v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 902 P.2d 1328 (Alaska 1995).

Black's Law Dictionary (5th ed. 1983).

Merriam-Webster Online at <http://www.m-w.com/dictionary.htm>.

York v. Sevier County Ambulance Auth., 8 S.W.3d 616 (Tenn. 1999).

Barreca v. Cobb, 668 So.2d 1129 (La. 1996).

Soliva v. Shand, Morahan & Co., 176 W. Va. 430, 345 S.E.2d 33 (1986).

Thompson v. State Auto. Mut. Ins. Co., 122 W. Va. 551,
11 S.E.2d 849 (1940).

West Virginia Fire & Cas. Co. v. Stanley, ___ W. Va. ___, 602 S.E.2d 483,
2004 WL 1144050 (W. Va., May 21, 2004).

Joslin v. Mitchell, 213 W. Va. 771, 584 S.E.2d 913 (2003).

West Virginia Code § 33-6-9(b).

West Virginia Code § 33-6-8.

West Virginia Code § 33-6-30(c).

VI. DISCUSSION OF LAW

A. Standard of Review

As the Court most recently opined in Osborne v. United States, 211 W. Va. 667, 567 S.E.2d 677 (2002),

[w]hen this Court is called upon to resolve a certified question, we employ a plenary review. " 'A de novo standard is applied by this [C]ourt in addressing the legal issues presented by a certified question from a federal district or appellate court.' Syl. Pt. 1, Light v. Allstate Ins. Co., 203 W.Va. 27, 506 S.E.2d 64 (1998)." Syl. pt. 2, Aikens v. Debow, 208 W.Va. 486, 541 S.E.2d 576 (2000). Accord Syl. pt. 1, Bower v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 206 W.Va. 133, 522 S.E.2d 424 (1999) ("This Court undertakes plenary review of legal issues presented by certified question from a federal district or appellate court.").

Osborne, 211 W. Va. at 670, 567 S.E.2d at 680. Moreover, it is undisputed that the question posed by the Circuit Court of Mercer County, West Virginia, for this Court's determination is a question of law. As the Court stated in Feliciano v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 210 W. Va. 740, 559 S.E.2d 713 (2001),

[d]uring our consideration of questions of law, be they presented by certification or otherwise, we employ a de novo standard of review. "To the extent that we are asked to interpret a statute or address a question of law, our review is de novo. State v.

Paynter, 206 W. Va. 521, 526, 526 S.E.2d 43, 48 (1999). Accord Syl. pt. 2, Coordinating Council for Indep. Living, Inc. v. Palmer, 209 W. Va. 274, 546 S.E.2d 454 (2001) (“Where the issue on appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review.’ Syllabus point 1, Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W. Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).”).

Feliciano, 210 W. Va. at 744, 559 S.E.2d at 717. There is no doubt that the current question posed by the Circuit Court is a question of law as the relevant material facts are not in dispute and this question centers upon the determination of coverage. As this Court enunciated in syllabus point one of Tennant v. Smallwood, 211 W. Va. 703, 568 S.E.2d 10 (2002), “[d]eterminations of the proper coverage of an insurance contract when the facts are not in dispute is a question of law.” It is with this standard of review in mind that the Court should undertake its review and its determination of the certified question posed by the Circuit Court.

B. In Conformity With the Unequivocal Instruction Given by the Court in Richards v. Allstate, 193 W. Va. 244, 455 S.E.2d 803 (1995), the Clear and Unambiguous Policy Provisions Contained Within the Nationwide Policy, as Amended by Endorsement 2256C, Create a Contractual Right to Reimbursement of Medical Expense Payments Where a Nationwide Insured Received a Recovery From Another Nationwide Insured and the Proceeds of That Recovery Duplicate the Insurer’s Previous Payment of Medical Expenses.

The issue in this case is rather straightforward -- whether this Court gave express direction to insurance companies, in Richards v. Allstate, 193 W. Va. 244, 455 S.E.2d 803 (1995), to include reimbursement language in insurance policies which would allow an insurer to recover, from an insured, medical expense payments where the insured received a recovery from a separate policy of insurance by the same company and which recovery duplicates the insurer’s previous payment of medical expenses. The Defendant Nationwide maintains that the Court did give such express direction in Richards, and pursuant to that direction, Nationwide amended its policy of insurance to

include a reimbursement clause which clearly and unambiguously provides the insurer with a contractual right to reimbursement of medical expense payments it made to the Appellees under the relevant policy provisions.

In contrast, the crux of the Appellees' arguments concerning the certified question posed by the Circuit Court is that the Defendant Nationwide is entitled neither to subrogation, nor reimbursement, of the medical payments coverage Nationwide paid under Policy No. 92 47 H 890080 because Nationwide's reimbursement claim is nothing more than subrogation and, therefore, is disallowed under the Richards decision. See 193 W. Va. 244, 455 S.E.2d 803. In support of this argument, the Appellees go to great lengths to blur the clear distinction between subrogation and reimbursement so as to transmute what is plainly a right to reimbursement into subrogation to support the Appellees' claim that the policy language at issue is "ambiguous." The Appellees' argument, however, totally ignores the clear and express instruction given by the Court in Richards to insurance companies. The Court instruction in Richards unequivocally provides an insurance company the right to include reimbursement language in an insurance policy to prevent an insured from receiving a double recovery. Id. 193 W. Va. at 249, 455 S.E.2d 808.

In order to answer the Circuit Court's certified question, it is essential to begin by reviewing the Court's decision in Richards, which presents a factual scenario that is analogous to the instant matter. The plaintiffs in Richards were involved in an automobile accident and sustained injuries. The plaintiffs' vehicle, which was insured by Allstate Insurance Company ("Allstate"), had collided with a vehicle driven by Elisha Workman, the tortfeasor, who was also insured by Allstate. Id. 193 W. Va. at 246, 455 S.E.2d at 805. Pursuant to the plaintiffs' policy, Allstate paid the plaintiffs \$2,000 each for medical bills they had incurred as a result of the accident. The plaintiffs then settled

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