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

IV. ARGUMENT

Nationwide's Century II Auto Policy Endorsement 2256C entitled "Subrogation", does not by clear and unambiguous language create a contractual right to reimbursement of medical expense payments where an insured received a recovery from another Nationwide insured and the proceeds of that recovery duplicate the insurer's previous payment because (1) the language therein describes subrogation and (2) Nationwide's actions in this matter clearly identify its claim as a subrogation claim.

- 1) **The policy provisions of the Century II Auto Policy, as amended by Endorsement 2256C entitled "Subrogation" is ambiguous because the language describes subrogation not reimbursement.**

"*Subrogation*" is the "substitution of one person in the place of another with reference to a lawful claim, demand or right so that he who is substituted succeeds to the rights of the other in relation to the debt or claim". *Black's Law Dictionary* (Rev. 4th Ed 1968). A "*subrogee*" is the person who succeeds to the rights of another; the person who is subrogated, usually the insurer. *Id.*

Placing this definition into the context of insurance law, and specifically this policy language, once an insured is injured as the result of the negligence of a third party, the insured has certain rights against the third party, including the right to be compensated for any medical bills incurred by the insured as a result of the third party's negligence. When the insurer pays its insured's medical bills under medical payment coverage, the insurer obtains the insured's rights to collect payment for the medical bills from the third party. The insurer's right to collect for medical coverage payments is contingent upon the

insured's right to collect payments for medical bills from a negligent third party. Clearly, in this situation, the insurer does not have any independent direct right to recover from a third party tortfeasor.

No matter what you call it, what Nationwide is attempting to do, by trying to get the Ferrells to return the money it paid them under the medical payment coverage is, by legal definition, subrogation.¹⁰

It is undisputed that the policy in question does not define "reimbursement". Nationwide has gone to great length and hired extremely intelligent defense attorneys who have researched the difference between subrogation and reimbursement and have

¹⁰ No wonder Nationwide previously refused to explain the difference between subrogation and reimbursement. In *Nationwide's Responses to Plaintiffs' First Set of Interrogatories, Requests for Admissions, and Requests for Production of Document*, interrogatory number twelve, Nationwide refused to

"12. Explain the difference between subrogation and reimbursement.

Response: Please refer to the West Virginia Supreme Court's holding in *Richards v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 455 S.E.2d 803 (W.Va. 1995)."

In *Nationwide's Amended and Supplemental Responses to Plaintiffs' First Set of Interrogatories, Requests for Admissions, and Requests for Production of Document*, interrogatory number twelve, Nationwide again failed to explain the difference between subrogation and reimbursement.

"12. Explain the difference between subrogation and reimbursement.

Amended/Supplemental Response: Nationwide states that the *Richards* case provides that subrogation arises only with respect to rights of the insured against a third person to whom the insurer owes no duty. *Richards* notes that subrogation rights do not exist against a company's own insured. However, per *Richards*, an insurance company can include language in its policy of insurance that permits it to seek reimbursement from its insured when its insured received a settlement or judgment against a tortfeasor. Per *Richards*, an insurance carrier may place clear language in its policy providing for the reimbursement of medical payments it may advance to an insured to the extent such medical payments are compensated by a settlement or judgment with a tortfeasor whom it insures.

argued merely by general statements that this is unambiguously reimbursement; arguments they were apparently unable to make below.

The policy provision in question identifies both subrogation of medical payment and "reimbursement". These are two completely different theories of recovery. As stated above, subrogation is the substitution of the insurer for the insured in an attempt to recover the medical coverage payments, which is what the liability claims adjuster has done in "honoring the med pay lien". Reimbursement is a direct right to recover the medical payment coverage from its own insured. The "reimbursement" Nationwide claims it is entitled to is, in fact and by law, subrogation and not permitted under these circumstances.

It is undisputed that West Virginia law does not permit subrogation in favor of an insurer against its own insured who is a negligent third party to the insurance policy between the victim of the negligence and the victim's insurer. Richards v. Allstate Insurance Company, 193 W.Va. 244, 455 S.E.2d 803 (1995). "No right of subrogation can arise in favor of the insurer against its own insured, since by definition subrogation arises only with respect to rights of the insured against third persons to whom the insurer owes no duty." *Id.* Syl. Pt. 2 and 193 W.Va. at 246, 455 S.E.2d at 805 *quoting Couch on Insurance 2d* §61:136 at 195 (Rev. ed. 1983).

Nationwide's demand for reimbursement stems from its misunderstanding and initial misrepresentation of the holding in Richards v. Allstate Insurance Company. Nationwide claims that

"in Richards, the Court held that an insurer is entitled to include language in a policy of motor vehicle insurance providing for the reimbursement of medical payments it may advance to its insured to the extent such

medical payments are compensated by settlement with or judgment against a tortfeasor whom it also insures."¹⁰

The Richards Court made no such holding as Nationwide claimed. The Richards Court mentioned *in dicta* that plaintiff's policy therein did not contain any language providing for reimbursement. "Although Allstate could have placed language in its policy providing for reimbursement in this type of situation, it did not." 193 W.Va. 247-48, 455 S.E.2d 806-807. Since language providing for reimbursement was not before the Richards Court, it made no holding regarding validity of such.

In West Virginia, as required by our state constitution, every point of law (the holding) decided by our Supreme Court is announced through syllabus points. Walker v. Doe, 558 S.E.2d 290 (W.Va. 2001); W.Va. Const. Art.8, §4. The Richards case contains no such syllabus point or holding as Appellant wants to believe.

One of the concerns the Richards Court noted regarding the subrogation language equally applies to reimbursement. The concern is that permitting the insurer to subrogate against its own insured on medical payments *would allow the insurer to expend premiums collected from its insured to secure a recovery against the same insured on a risk insured against*. 193 W.Va. at 247, 455 S.E.2d at 806, relying on Home Insurance Co. v Pinski Brothers, Inc., 160 Mont. 219, 225-26, 500 P.2d 945, 949 (1972). Identically, an insurer's attempt to receive *reimbursement* for medical payments would allow it to expend premiums collected from its insured to secure a judgment against the same insured on a risk insured against. See also, Control Specialists Company, Inc. v.

¹⁰ See Nationwide's Responses to Plaintiffs' First Set of Interrogatories, Requests for Admissions, and Requests for Production of Documents, interrogatory numbers 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, and 9. See also Nationwide's Petition For Certified Question Review pp. 10-15.

State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 228 Neb. 642, 423 N.W.2d 775 (1988) quoting Stetina v. State Farm Mutual Insurance Co., 196 Neb. 441 at 451, 243 N.W. 341 at 346 (1976)(“To allow subrogation [or reimbursement] under such circumstances would permit an insurer, in effect, to pass the incidence of the loss, either partially or totally, from itself to its own insured and thus avoid the coverage which its insured purchased...”).

One has to wonder if the medical payments must be returned, exactly what is purchased by the insured with his medical payment premium? Why would an insured pay for auto medical payment coverage when he has health insurance coverage which he can use instead? Why would an insured pay for auto medical payment coverage when his attorney will provide assurance to his medical providers that their balance will be protected out of settlement or litigation proceeds? When Appellees asked Nationwide to explain exactly what the family compensation (medical payment) premium purchased if Appellees have to return the medical payments, Nationwide’s initial response was to refer to the policy. Its amended/supplemental response did no more to explain the purchase.¹¹

¹¹ Interrogatory 13. Should Appellees pay Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company the amount of medical payments/family compensation Nationwide paid under the policy of Insurance No. 92 47H 890080, explain exactly what the family compensation premium purchased.

Response: Please refer to the portions of policy number. 92 47H 890080 for a description of family compensation.

Its amended and supplemental response was as follows:

Amended/Supplemental Response: Nationwide will not repeat herein, but incorporates by reference, the provisions of the policy supplied with its original Responses, pp. 11 to 14, that describe the Insurance Commissioner approved terms and provisions of the Family Compensation coverage.

The premium received from Nationwide’s policyholders for family compensation coverage was approved by the West Virginia Insurance Commissioner and

Nationwide cites an Alaskan case for identifying the purpose of medical payment coverage. Identified as the purpose of medical payment coverage is "peace of mind" consisting of speedy reimbursement for medical expenses without regard to fault and coverage for uninsured or underinsured accidents.¹²

These purported purposes do not address the situation where the injured party has private medical insurance and is without fault. Further, typically the injured party's attorney provides written assurance to medical providers to protect their balance out of settlement or judgment proceeds pending resolution of their claim and by so doing, provides the same "peace of mind" Nationwide charges a hefty premium for and then requests the benefits thereof be returned.

The policy provision in question states that "if the insured receives a recovery from any liable party, including another Nationwide insured, we may require the insured to reimburse us when the proceeds of recovery duplicate our payment". It is not just medical bills paid from the policy of another Nationwide insured, *but any liable party*. Nationwide does not provide a premium discount or rebate to its insureds when they must repay medical payments.

applicable to use of Endorsement 2256C, which was approved for use in West Virginia on July 8, 2000. Under the terms and conditions of the Commissioner-approved policy, no premium was paid by the policyholders which would entitle an insured to double recovery of the same medical expenses paid under the policy of another Nationwide insured. Simply stated, **the family compensation premium purchased the right to receive compensation for payment of medical bills not paid from the policy of another Nationwide insured.** (emphasis added)

¹² *Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company's Petition for Certified Question Review*, pp. 17-18 citing Maynard v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 902 P.2d 1328 (Alaska 1995).

Interestingly, besides Richards, all of the cases Nationwide has cited in support of its claim that the Baldwin policy gives it a right of reimbursement are State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. ("State Farm"). The reimbursement language contained in the State Farm policies is different than that contained in the Nationwide Baldwin policy. The State Farm policy contains the following reimbursement language:

"Under medical payments and physical damages coverages, if a liable party is

- (1) insured by us or any affiliated company for liability coverage, and
 - (a) we pay for the same expenses or loss that has been paid under these coverages as damages under that party's liability coverage, then
 - (b) the party to or for whom we make payment must reimburse us to the extent of the payments we have made under the medical payments and physical damage coverages."¹³

There is no language regarding "subrogation" contained in the State Farm policy as is contained in the Nationwide policy.

Additional evidence of ambiguity contained in paragraph 5 is the phrase that Nationwide "**may** require the insured to reimburse us when the proceeds of recovery ***duplicate our payment***". The "proceeds of recovery", i.e., the proposed settlement to Kathleen and Brenton Ferrell of \$10,000.00 and \$6,000.00, respectively, did not specifically identify the underlying damages for which it was being offered by the tortfeasor. Who is to say whether the proceeds of recovery were not entirely for pain,

¹³ See Order Granting Plaintiff Summary Judgment As Against All Defendants in State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Facemyre, et al. Civil Action No. 01-C-1565 appearing as Exhibit C, p. 3 attached to Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company's Petition for Certified Question Review. See also Order in State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Justus, Civil Action No. 01-C-324-S, appearing as Exhibit B, p. 5 attached to Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company's Petition for Certified Question Review.

suffering and worry about the condition of their unborn baby? Who determines, and by what criteria, whether the proceeds of recovery “duplicate payment”?

When Appellees asked Nationwide to explain when it requires the insured to reimburse it “when the proceeds of recovery duplicate payment”, and identify the criteria used in making this determination, initially Nationwide merely told the Appellees to refer to the policy.¹⁴ In its *Amended and Supplemental Responses*, Nationwide again failed to explain when it requires the insured to reimburse it and failed to identify the criteria used.

Instead, it stated

The proceeds of a recovery received by an insured from a tortfeasor duplicate payments made by Nationwide under Family Compensation when the insured makes a decision to submit the bills to Nationwide for consideration for payment under the Family Compensation coverage and then seeks to recover those same bills when making a claim against the third party. The Family Compensation coverage provides benefits when an insured insures medicals for bodily injury suffered while occupying your auto, or when ceratin [sic] other coverage extensions stated in the policy apply. The insured makes the decision on duplicated payments when he/she submits the bills to Nationwide and represents that they were incurred as a result of a motor vehicle accident and then presents them again for consideration for damages the insured seeks to recover from a tortfeasor.¹⁵

The undersigned cannot envision a scenario where an insured would submit bills for payment under medical payment coverage and not seek to recover those same medical bills from the tortfeasor, especially when the tortfeasor’s insurer (Nationwide) requires it.

¹⁴ *Nationwide’s Responses to Plaintiffs’ First Set of Interrogatories, Requests for Admissions, and Requests for Production of Document*, interrogatory number 14.

¹⁵ *Nationwide’s Amended and Supplemental Responses to Plaintiffs’ First Set of Interrogatories, Requests for Admissions, and Requests for Production of Document*, interrogatory number 14.

Paragraph 5 is unquestionably ambiguous because the policy language does not specifically identify when Nationwide may require reimbursement for "duplication of payment". Nationwide's inability to explain when the proceeds of recovery duplicate their payment demonstrates this ambiguity. Any such ambiguity must be decided in favor of the insured. Syl. Pt 1, Prete v. Merchants Property Ins. Co. of Indiana, 159 W.Va.508, 223 S.E.2d 441 (1976); Syl. Pt. 2, Murray v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co., 203 W.Va. 477, 509 S.E.2d 1 (1998); see West Virginia Fire & Cas. Co. v. Stanley, ___ W. Va. ___, 602 S.E.2d 483, 2004 WL 1144050 (May 21, 2004).

Nationwide purports to claim that because the policy was approved for use by West Virginia's Insurance Commissioner, it is not ambiguous. Obviously, the Insurance Commissioner does not warrant that approved policies do not contain ambiguities. If that were the case, there would never be an ambiguity in a policy approved by the Insurance Commissioner. Several policy provisions contained in policies previously approved by the Insurance Commissioner have been the subject of litigation over ambiguity. See e.g. Farmers Mutual Ins. Co. v. Tucker, 213 W.Va 16, 576 S.E.2d 261 (2002); Murray v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co., 203 W.Va. 477, 509 S.E.2d 1 (1998); Syl. Pt. 6 Hambric v. Doe, 201 W.Va 615, 499 S.E.2d 619 (1997); Marcum Trucking Co., Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity & Guar. Co., 190 W.Va. 267, 438 S.E.2d 59 (1993) (*per curiam*). Nationwide's claim simply defies law, reason and logic.

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